
Date Published:4 October 2019     

Constitution Committee

Monday 14 October 2019 at 3.00 pm

Members' Room - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

To note any apologies for absence.

Sophie 
Benfield

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 29 May 2019.

Chair

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.  The closing 
date/time for receipt of questions is 10.00am on Monday 7th 
October 2019.

Sophie 
Benfield

4  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions.  The closing date/time for 
the receipt of questions is 10.00am on Monday 7th October 2019.

Sophie 
Benfield

5  MOTION 837 - PARENTAL LEAVE FOR COUNCILLORS (Pages 5 
- 8)

To consider the attached report.

Simon Harper

6  AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE’S TERMS OF 
REFERENCE (Pages 9 - 20)

To consider the attached report on changes to the Audit and Governance 
Committee’s Terms of Reference which was presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 11th October 2019.

Rob Ayliffe

7  AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE PROPOSED 
INDEPENDENT MEMBER RECRUITMENT PACK (Pages 21 - 32)

To consider the attached report, which was presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 11th October 2019.

Rob Ayliffe



    

8  SCHEME OF DELEGATION (Pages 33 - 52)

To consider the attached changes to the Scheme of Delegation.

Rob Ayliffe

9  MONITORING OFFICER CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION 
(Pages 53 - 56)

To note the attached reports.

Rob Ayliffe

10  MOTIONS AT FULL COUNCIL 

Cllr Stowe has requested that the procedure for motions at full councils be 
considered by the Committee, in order to increase transparency for 
members and the public, and to ensure that the implications in terms of 
the effect on  protected groups, environmental impacts and cost are all 
made clear.

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe

Membership –  Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE (Chairman), Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr John Payne, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Rachel Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, Rob 
Ayliffe 01452 328506 / e-mail: Rob.AYLIFFE@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start 
of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:Rob.AYLIFFE@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Constitution Committee held on Wednesday 29 May 2019 at 
the Meeting Room 6 - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Nigel Moor

Cllr John Payne
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

1. ELECTION OF CHAIR 

RESOLVED that Cllr Mark Hawthorne be elected to the position of Chair of the 
Constitution Committee for the 2019-20 Civic Year.

2. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 

RESOLVED that Cllr Colin Hay be elected to the position of Vice-Chair of the 
Constitution Committee for the 2019-20 Civic Year.

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Cllr Lynden Stowe. Cllr Tim Harman substituted for 
Cllr Stowe.

4. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 14 January 2019 were approved and signed by 
the Chair.

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.

6. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No members questions had been received.

7. EMPLOYEE CODE OF CONDUCT MAY 2019 UPDATE 

7.1 Consideration was given to a report relating to changes to the Employee 
Code of Conduct. Jane Burns, the Monitoring Officer, explained that there 
were some minor changes/updates but the main section to highlight was 
clarifying the expectations on accepting gifts and hospitality. Members were 
informed that this policy was now inline with the Members code of conduct.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

RESOLVED to ratify the changes to the Constitution made by the Monitoring Officer 
relating to the Employee Code of Conduct.

8. SCRUTINY REVIEW 

8.1 Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services, opened the item by explaining 
that following the Council’s scrutiny review, members had ratified the new 
Committee structure at full Council in March 2019. The changes to the 
Constitution being presented to the Committee were as a result of that new 
Committee structure, as well as minor tidying up.

8.2 Members were informed that the changes to the Committee’s terms of 
reference have been drafted using permissive wording to make sure scrutiny 
was not too restricted. The amendments were taken as read and the item 
was opened out to questions and comments.

8.3 The Committee wondered if there had been any feedback from District 
Councils regarding the split of health and adult social care from the original 
Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Members were informed 
that the Districts hadn’t welcomed the split overall but were reassured that 
there would be at least two joint meetings per year, plus a review of the 
arrangements after a year.

8.4 A member noted that the responsibility for risk management was now 
included within the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny terms of reference.

ACTION: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.5 There was a discussion about where the responsibility for community 
development sat within the new Committee structure. Members noted that it 
would naturally fall within the remit of the new Adult Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee but may also fall within other Committees 
from time to time. It was requested that the Constitution draft be amended to 
reflect these comments.

ACTION: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.6 During the scrutiny review, members discussed the possibility of public and 
member questions being introduced at Scrutiny Committees. It was 
confirmed that the Health Scrutiny Committee was going to trial an 
arrangement similar to full Council and Cabinet. This would take the form of 
public and member representations at Committee, rather than questions. It 
was accepted that asking questions would be unfair to Chairs of the Scrutiny 
Committee who were not the decision makers. This practice would be rolled 
out further if successful.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

8.7 The Committee requested that under Article 5, the Chair of Council – 5.02 to 
be updated to the Chair’s ‘civic role’ as opposed to ‘ceremonial role’.

ACTION: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.8 Reflecting on the wording of Article 8, the Committee agreed that the role of 
Scrutiny Committees should include policy development as well as policy 
review, as the latter was retrospective.

ACTION: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.9 During discussions, the Chair requested that at the next Constitution 
Committee, there was a review of the business for Council agendas.

ACTION: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.10 The following points were highlighted by a member on the terms of reference 
for the Audit and Governance Committee:

 Under section 4, the Committee should be considering the value for 
money of the External Audit of the Council’s services and functions when 
reviewing.

ACTION: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

 Under section 5, the wording does not cover the external audit on the 
effectiveness of the internal audit itself.

8.11 The Committee was informed that this was the standard wording used which 
conformed to the International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing.

8.12 Members requested a flow diagram for debates at full Council to be added to 
the Constitution.

ACTION: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.13 The Committee agreed that an updated version of the Constitution following 
the meeting would be presented at full Council on 26 June 2019 for formal 
adoption. This would be a clean version document with all tracked changes 
accepted. 

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the changes to the 
Constitution in respect of the scrutiny review be ratified. 

9. MONITORING OFFICER CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the changes to the 
Constitution made by the Monitoring Officer relating to Cabinet Member 
responsibility and friendly amendments be ratified.

10. MOTION 837 - PARENTAL LEAVE FOR COUNCILLORS 

10.1 Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services, advised that the final agenda 
item was for the Committee to note.

10.2. Members were informed that Democratic Services had begun carrying out 
research with the Local Government Association and other local authorities 
to help shape a parental leave policy for councillors. 

10.3 There were several questions about the detail of this policy including; 
attendance at meetings, political balance, handling of case work etc. in the 
councillor’s absence. Members noted that this would be a discussion for 
each political group and Democratic Services when a policy was in place as 
to how it would work in practice. 

10.4 The Committee highlighted that regardless of group size, all councillors 
should be entitled to the same level of support.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 11:15.

Page 4



 

1 
 

Constitution Committee – 14 October 2019 

Parental leave for councillors 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The following motion was passed unanimously by the Council at its meeting 

on 15 May 2019: 

This Council notes 

a) The under-representation of women at all levels of politics 

b) Nationally only 4% of councils have a policy on parental leave for 

councillors. 

c) Whilst proper parental leave is important to all parents, it has been 

particularly highlighted as an issue affecting women’s participation in 

local government. 

Consequently this Council resolves to task the Constitution Committee to 

develop policies and, if necessary, constitutional amendments, to give 

councillors similar rights to parental and adoptive leave as members of staff. 

1.2 At present there is no legal right to parental leave for people in elected public 

office, including councillors and MPs. Policies can therefore only be 

implemented on a voluntary basis. Discussions are ongoing nationally about 

changing the law to enable compulsory provision. 

 

2 GCC staff leave for parents 

2.1 GCC has a range of policies for staff who are parents or have other caring 

responsibilities.  These include: 

2.2 Maternity leave – the council provides for statutory maternity leave and 

enhances payment with an additional occupational scheme. 

The scheme provides for up to 52 weeks maternity leave.  Staff on maternity 

leave (who have worked the necessary service to qualify) are paid as follows: 

- Weeks 1 to 6 – 90% of full weekly pay (SMP) 

- Weeks 7 to 18 – 50% of full weekly pay (CMP) plus SMP allowance.  

- Weeks 19 to 39: 21 weeks SMP 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

2.3 Adoption or surrogacy leave - follows the same pattern as maternity leave. 

2.4 Paternity leave and maternity support leave - includes one week full pay and 

one week statutory paternity pay for a biological father or nominated carer of 

their partner/spouse following the birth of their child. 

2.5 Parental leave - Statutory parental leave allows parents to take a maximum of 

18 weeks unpaid leave for each of their children until the child’s 18th birthday.  

2.6 Special leave – GCC allows up to five days’ paid emergency leave for staff to 

provide care for children or other family members in certain defined 

circumstances. 

3 Public sector schemes  

3.1 A number of councils across England have adopted voluntary parental leave 

schemes for elected members with most based around a model put forward 

by the Labour Group on the Local Government Association (LGA).   

3.2 Corby, Southampton, Newcastle, Lincoln, Islington, Lambeth and Sunderland 

are among the councils who have adopted schemes.  Gloucester City Council 

has considered the introduction of a scheme but is currently waiting for the 

outcome of work being undertaken by the LGA. 

3.3 In Wales, a statutory scheme is in place for councillors under the Family 

Absence for Members of Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013.  

3.4 Although there have been debates in the House of Commons where there has 

been strong support for parental leave for MPs, a scheme is yet to be 

introduced.  Informal arrangements are in place to allow proxy voting in the 

instance of a parental absence from Parliament. 

4 LGA Labour Group Scheme  

4.1 A number of councils across England have adopted voluntary parental leave 

schemes with most based around a model put forward by the Labour Group 

on the Local Government Association (LGA) - https://www.local.gov.uk/lga-

labour/about-us/parental-leave-policy-councillors  

Page 6

https://www.local.gov.uk/lga-labour/about-us/parental-leave-policy-councillors
https://www.local.gov.uk/lga-labour/about-us/parental-leave-policy-councillors


 

3 
 

4.2 Under this scheme, members giving birth are entitled to up to 6 months 

maternity leave from the due date, with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by 

agreement. 

4.3 Members are entitled to take a minimum of 2 weeks paternity leave if they are 

the biological father or nominated carer of their partner/spouse following the 

birth of the child. 

4.4 A member who adopts a child through an approved adoption agency is 

entitled to take up to 6 months’ adoption leave from the date of placement, 

with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement. 

4.5 Any member who takes maternity, shared parental or adoption leave retains 

their legal duty under the Local Government Act 1972 to attend a meeting of 

the council within a 6 month period unless council agrees to an extended 

leave of absence prior to the end of the 6 months. 

4.6 All members continue to receive their basic allowance in full whilst on 

maternity, paternity or adoption leave. 

4.7 Members entitled to a special responsibility allowance continue to receive 

their allowance in full in the case of maternity, paternity, shared parental or 

adoption leave. Where a replacement member is appointed to cover the 

period of absence that person receives a special responsibility allowance on a 

pro rata basis for the period of the temporary appointment. 

4.8 The payment of special responsibility allowances during a period of maternity, 

paternity, shared parental or adoption leave continues for 6 months, or until 

the date of the next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the date when the 

member taking leave is up for election (whichever is soonest). At such a point, 

the position will be reviewed, and will be subject to a possible extension for a 

further 6 month period. 

4.9 The member is expected to return to the same or equivalent post at the end of 

their leave period unless they are removed from their post at the Annual 

Meeting of the Council, or the political party to which they belong loses control 

of the council during their leave period. 

Page 7



 

4 
 

5 Representative role  

5.1 When a member is on parental leave, arrangements will need to be in place to 

provide cover for their representative role in local communities. 

5.2 Whenever possible, political groups will arrange for members, ideally from a 

nearby area, to help in dealing with casework and related issues. 

5.3 Democratic Services will provide help and advice where appropriate, and 

arrange for officers in service areas to respond to enquiries.  For example, 

highways officers will be able to deal with enquiries relating to the condition of 

local roads or highway safety concerns. 

6 Options for the Council 

6.1 A parental leave scheme for councillors cannot be exactly the same as the 

GCC staff scheme because elected members are not paid employees.  A 

scheme for members needs to reflect both basic and special responsibility 

allowances and recognise the impact of elections, changes in administration 

and new appointments.   

6.2 Three options are available to the Council: 

a) Develop a scheme based around the LGA Labour Group scheme 

b) Wait for the outcome of further work being undertaken by the LGA in 

line with the approach taken by Gloucester City Council. 

c) Develop a bespoke scheme broadly reflecting the GCC staff parental 

leave policy but drawing from schemes from other councils and the 

wider public sector. 

 

 

Simon Harper 

Head of Democratic Services  

Page 8



Audit and Governance Committee 

Date:  r 11th October 2019 Agenda No: 
 

 

 
Title of Report: 

Audit and Governance Committee’s Terms of Reference 

Context 

 

 

 

 

Audit committees are a key component of an authority’s governance 
framework. Their function is to provide an independent and high-level 
resource to support good governance and strong public financial 
management. The purpose of an audit committee is to provide to those 
charged with governance independent assurance on the adequacy of 
the risk management framework, the internal control environment and 
the integrity of the financial reporting and governance processes. By 
overseeing both internal and external audit it makes an important 
contribution to ensuring that effective assurance arrangements are in 
place. The Council’s audit committee should adopt a model that 
establishes the committee as independent and effective. The 
committee should: 
 

 act as the principal non-executive, advisory function supporting 
those charged with governance; 

 be independent of both the executive and the scrutiny functions 
and include an independent member where not already required 
to do so by legislation; 

 have clear rights of access to other committees/functions, for 
example, scrutiny and service committees, corporate risk 
management boards and other strategic groups; and 

 be directly accountable to the authority’s governing body. 
 
The guidance to support those acting as audit committee members in 
local authorities has recently changed and currently recognises 
CIPFA’s publication “Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local 
Authorities and Police (2018)” as representing “proper audit committee 
practices”.  
 
This guidance defines the way in which audit committee’s should be 
established and undertakes its functions, including the functional 
reporting requirements to the governance group charged with providing 
independent assurance on the adequacy of the control environment, 
comprising risk management, control and governance.  
 

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to present to the Committee the proposed 
refreshed Audit and Governance Committee’s Terms of Reference, 
which reflects the revised Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance on the function and operation of audit 
committees; “Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police, 2018 
edition”.  
 
The guidance represents CIPFA’s view of best practice for Audit 
Committees in local authorities throughout the UK and replaces the 
Position Statement of Audit Committees in Local Government issued in 
2013. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Recommendations: That the Committee endorse the refreshed Terms of Reference as set 
out in Appendix 2. The Terms of Reference to be subsequently 
presented to the Constitution Committee for formal approval and 
inclusion within the Council’s Constitution. 

 

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) and 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services and Area Finance 
Officers Team.  
Tel: 01452 328883 
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 

Paul Blacker: Director of Finance 

Tel: 01452 328999 

paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

 

Key Risks Failure to deliver effective governance will impact on the ability of the 
Council to achieve its vision, outcomes and priorities. 
 

Appendices Appendix 1: Current Audit and Governance Committee’s Terms of 
Reference. 

Appendix 2: Proposed refreshed Audit and Governance Committees 
Terms of Reference. 

 

Background 
Documents 

 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
guidance on the function and operation of audit committees; “Audit 
Committees in Local Authorities and Police, 2018 edition”; 

 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017; and 

 CIPFA Local Government Application note on the PSIAS. 

 

Page 10

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Current Terms of Reference   Appendix 1 
 

Audit and Governance 

Committee  

 

9 County Councillors 

 

The Chair of the Audit 
and Governance 
Committee to be drawn 
from outside the group 
or groups forming the 
administration.  
 

(1) Advise on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Council’s corporate governance arrangements and 

internal control environment. 

 

(2) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 

governance arrangements including: 

 Monitoring the effectiveness of the Chief Officer’s 

responsibility for ensuring an adequate internal 

control environment; 

 Monitoring the arrangements for the identification, 

monitoring and control of strategic and operational 

risk within the Council; 

 Monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

arrangements in place for combating fraud and 

corruption; 

 Providing an annual report to the County Council that 

its systems of governance are operating effectively; 

 Reviewing and approving the annual Statement of 

Accounts and Annual Governance Statement; 

 The Chief Internal Auditor has the right of 

independent access to the Committee and its Chair; 

 Being responsible for the implementation and 

undertaking regular monitoring of the Council’s 

treasury management policies and practices; 

 Formulating and keeping under review a Code of 

Conduct to promote high ethical standards amongst 

Officers and doing anything that is calculated to 

promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 

Officers; 

 Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s 

‘whistle-blowing’ policy; and 

 Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s 

arrangements for handling complaints and 

investigations by the Local Government 

Ombudsman. 

 

(3) To promote, maintain and assist the achievement of high 

standards of conduct by County Councillors and co-opted 

members in accordance with the Council’s Code of 

Conduct for Members.  

 To monitor the operation of the Code of Conduct for 

Members; 

 To advise the Council on any amendment or revision 

of the Code; 

 To secure adequate and appropriate training of 

County Councillors and co-opted Members on the 

Code of Conduct for Members; 

Page 11



Current Terms of Reference   Appendix 1 
 

 To give general guidance and advice to County 

Councillors on Members’ interests and keep under 

review the Register of Members’ Interests maintained 

by the Monitoring Officer; and 

 To give general guidance and advice to County 

Councillors and employees on gifts and hospitality. 

 

(4) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 

External Audit service and respond to its findings. 

Specifically: 

 Considering the nature and scope of the External 

Audit of the Council’s services and functions; 

 Receiving and considering External Audit Reports 

including the Annual Audit Letter and Governance 

Report; and 

 Monitoring management’s response to the External 

Auditor’s findings and the implementation of External 

Audit recommendations. 

 

(5) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal 

Audit service. Specifically: 

 Approving the internal audit charter; 

 Approving the annual risk based internal audit plan; 

 Receiving communications from the Chief Internal 

Auditor on the internal audit activity’s performance 

relative to its plan and other matters, including the 

annual report and opinion; 

 Receiving and considering major Internal Audit 

findings and recommendations; 

 Monitoring management’s response to Internal Audit 

findings and the implementation of the 

recommendations; 

 Making appropriate enquiries of management and 

the Chief Internal Auditor to determine whether there 

are inappropriate scope and resource limitations; 

 Agreeing the scope and form of the external 

assessment as part of the quality assurance and 

improvement plan; 

 Receiving the results of internal and external 

assessments of the quality assurance and 

improvement programme, including areas of non-

conformance with professional standards; and  

 Approving significant consulting services not already 

included in the audit plan, prior to acceptance of the 

engagement, if this materially impacts on core 

assurance activity. 

 

Page 12



Current Terms of Reference   Appendix 1 
 

(6) To grant dispensations to County Councillors and co-

opted Members related to interests specified in the Code 

of Conduct for Members following written requests to the 

proper officer (Chief Executive) by a Member or Co-opted 

Member under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, when 

the Council: 

 Considers that without the dispensation, the number 

of persons prohibited by section 31(4) from 

participating in any particular business would be so 

great a proportion of the body transacting the 

business as to impede the transaction of the 

business; 

 Considers that without the dispensation the 

representation of different political groups on the 

body transacting any particular business would be 

upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote 

relating to the business; 

 Considers that granting the dispensation is in the 

interests of persons living in the authority’s area; 

 Considers that without the dispensation each 

member of the authority’s executive would be 

prohibited by section 31(4) from participating in any 

particular business to be transacted by the authority’s 

executive, or 

 Considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 

dispensation.  

 

(7) To establish a Sub-Committee known as the Hearings 

Panel to hear allegations that Members have failed to 

comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct. 

 To assess and review allegations of Member 

misconduct; and 

 To determine allegations of Member misconduct.  

 

Note: the committee has the right to require the attendance of 

any Council officers or members in order to respond directly to 

any issue under consideration. 

Hearings Panel Sub-
Committee  
 
5 County Councillors 
proportional to the 
political composition of 
the Council. Quorum of 
3 members present for 
its duration  

(1) To receive reports referred from the Monitoring Officer 
following investigations into complaints and other steps 
associated with that function.  

 

(2) To conduct standards hearings and all other steps 
associated with that function, including taking into account 
the advice of the Independent Person.  
 

(3) If the panel determines that a breach of the Authority’s Code 
of Conduct has occurred, the panel can impose one or more 
of the following if appropriate:  

Page 13



Current Terms of Reference   Appendix 1 
 

 
a) Censure;  
b) Report to Council;  
c) Recommend actions to the Leader of the Council;  
d) Recommend actions to Group Leader;  
e) Removal from Outside Bodies;  
f) Withdrawal of facilities, such as Council 

email/website/internet access;  
g) Exclusion from the Council offices or other premises 

with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for 
attending Council, Committees or Sub-Committees 
and/or nominating a single point of contact; and/or  

h) Requesting the Member to undertake actions deemed 
appropriate e.g. training, issue of an apology.  

 
(4) To set-up when necessary an interview panel comprising 

of the lead members of each party to shortlist and 
interview candidates for the role of Independent Person.  

 

 To recommend successful candidates to the County 
Council to be chosen by a majority of Councillors.  

 

Page 14



Proposed Updated Terms of Reference  Appendix 2 
 

Audit and Governance 

Committee  

 

11 County Councillors 

 

The Chair of the Audit 
and Governance 
Committee to be drawn 
from outside the group 
or groups forming the 
administration.  
 

To include an 
Independent Member 
who is not a councillor 
or an officer of the 
Council. 

(1) Statement of Purpose 

 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component 

in the Council’s corporate governance structure ensuring 

compliance and maintenance of high ethical standards.  It 

provides an independent and high-level focus on the audit, 

assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good 

governance and financial standards. 

 The purpose of the committee is to provide independent 

assurance to Council of the adequacy of the risk 

management framework and the internal control 

environment.  It provides independent review of the 

Council’s governance, risk management and control 

frameworks and oversees the financial reporting and annual 

governance processes. It oversees internal audit and 

external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective 

assurance arrangements are in place. 

 

(2) Governance, Risk and Control 

 To review the Council’s corporate governance 

arrangements against the good governance framework, 

including the ethical framework and consider the local Code 

of Corporate Governance. 

 To review and approve the Annual Governance Statement 

(AGS) and consider whether it properly reflects the risk 

environment and supporting assurances, taking into 

account internal audit’s opinion on the overall adequacy 

and effectiveness of the Council’s framework of 

governance, risk management and control. 

 To consider the Council’s arrangements to secure value for 

money and review assurances and assessments on the 

effectiveness of these arrangements. 

 To consider the adequacy of Council’s framework of 

assurance i.e. the Three Lines of Defence model. 

 Undertaking regular monitoring of the Council’s treasury 

management policies and practices. 

 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk 

management in the Council and to monitor progress in 

addressing risk-related issues reported to the committee. 

 To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls 

and monitor the implementation of agreed actions. 

 To review the governance and assurance arrangements for 

significant partnerships or collaborations. 

 

Page 15



Proposed Updated Terms of Reference  Appendix 2 
 

 To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm 

to the Council from fraud and corruption. 

 To monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and 

resources. 

 Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s 

‘whistle-blowing’ policy. 

 Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s 

arrangements for handling complaints and investigations by 

the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 

(3) Internal Audit 

 To approve the Internal Audit Charter and Code of Ethics. 

 To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of 

external providers of internal audit services. 

 To review and approve the risk-based internal audit plan. 

 To approve significant interim changes to the risk-based 

internal audit plan and resource requirements, including 

significant consulting services not already included in the 

audit plan, prior to acceptance of the engagement, if this 

materially impacts on core assurance activity. 

 To make appropriate enquiries of both management and 

the Head of Internal Audit to determine if there are any 

inappropriate scope or resource limitations. 

 To consider any impairments to independence or objectivity 

arising from additional roles or responsibilities outside of 

internal auditing of the Head of Internal Audit.  To approve 

and periodically review safeguards to limit such 

impairments. 

 To contribute to the Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) and in particular, to the external quality 

assessment of internal audit that takes place at least once 

every five years. 

 To consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on 

internal audit’s performance during the year, including the 

performance of external providers of internal audit services.   

 To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report and 

the opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 

the Council’s framework of governance, risk management 

and control together with the summary of the work 

supporting the opinion, this will support the AGS. 

 

Page 16



Proposed Updated Terms of Reference  Appendix 2 
 

 To receive reports outlining the action taken where the 

Head of Internal Audit has concluded that management has 

accepted a level of risk that may be unacceptable to the 

authority or there are concerns about progress with the 

implementation of agreed actions. 

 To provide free and unfettered access to the audit 

committee chair for the Head of Internal Audit, including the 

opportunity for a private meeting with the committee. 

 

(4) External Audit 

 To support the independence of external audit through 

consideration of the external auditor’s annual assessment 

of its independence and review of any issues raised by 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) or the 

authority’s auditor panel as appropriate. 

 To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant 

reports and the report to those charged with governance. 

 To monitor management’s response to the External 

Auditor’s findings and the implementation of External Audit 

recommendations. 

 To commission work from internal and external audit and to 

advise and recommend on the effectiveness of 

relationships between external and internal audit and other 

inspection agencies or relevant bodies. 
 

(5) Financial Reporting 

 To review and approve the annual Statement of Accounts.  

Specifically, to consider whether appropriate accounting 

policies have been followed and whether there are 

concerns arising from the financial statements or from the 

audit that need to be brought to the attention of the Council. 

 To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged 

with governance on issues arising from the audit of the 

accounts. 
 

(6) Accountability Arrangements 

 To report to those charged with governance on the 

committee’s findings, conclusions and recommendations 

concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of their 

governance, risk management and internal control 

frameworks, financial reporting arrangements, and internal 

and external audit functions. 

 To publish an annual report on the work of the committee. 

 

 

Page 17



Proposed Updated Terms of Reference  Appendix 2 
 

 To report to full council on an annual basis on the 

committee’s performance in relation to the terms of 

reference and the effectiveness of the committee in meeting 

its purpose. 

 

Note: the Committee has the right to require the attendance of 

any council officers or members in order to respond directly to 

any issue under consideration. The Committee also has clear 

rights of access to other committees/functions, for example, 

scrutiny committees and other strategic groups. 

(7) Ethical Conduct 

(i) To promote, maintain and assist the achievement of high 

standards of conduct by County Councillors and co-opted 

members in accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct 

for Members.  

 To monitor the operation of the Code of Conduct for 

Members; 

 To advise the Council on any amendment or revision of 

the Code; 

 To secure adequate and appropriate training of County 

Councillors and co-opted Members on the Code of 

Conduct for Members; 

 To give general guidance and advice to County 

Councillors on Members’ interests and keep under review 

the Register of Members’ Interests maintained by the 

Monitoring Officer; and 

 To give general guidance and advice to County 

Councillors and employees on gifts and hospitality. 
 

(ii) To grant dispensations to County Councillors and co-opted 

Members related to interests specified in the Code of 

Conduct for Members following written requests to the proper 

officer (Chief Executive) by a Member or Co-opted Member 

under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, when the Council: 
 

 Considers that without the dispensation, the number of 

persons prohibited by section 31(4) from participating in 

any particular business would be so great a proportion of 

the body transacting the business as to impede the 

transaction of the business; 

 Considers that without the dispensation the representation 

of different political groups on the body transacting any 

particular business would be upset as to alter the likely 

outcome of any vote relating to the business; 

Page 18



Proposed Updated Terms of Reference  Appendix 2 
 

 Considers that granting the dispensation is in the 

interests of persons living in the authority’s area; 

 Considers that without the dispensation each member of 

the authority’s executive would be prohibited by section 

31(4) from participating in any particular business to be 

transacted by the authority’s executive, or 

 Considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 

dispensation.  

(iii) To establish a Sub-Committee known as the Hearings Panel 

to hear allegations that Members have failed to comply with 

the Authority’s Code of Conduct. 

 To assess and review allegations of Member 

misconduct; and 

 To determine allegations of Member misconduct.   

Hearings Panel Sub-
Committee  
 
5 County Councillors 
proportional to the 
political composition of 
the Council. Quorum of 
3 members present for 
its duration  

1. To receive reports referred from the Monitoring Officer 

following investigations into complaints and other steps 

associated with that function.  
 

2. To conduct standards hearings and all other steps associated 

with that function, including taking into account the advice of 

the Independent Person.  
 

3. If the panel determines that a breach of the Authority’s Code of 

Conduct has occurred, the panel can impose one or more of 

the following if appropriate:  
 

a) Censure;  
b) Report to Council;  
c) Recommend actions to the Leader of the Council;  
d) Recommend actions to Group Leader;  
e) Removal from Outside Bodies;  
f) Withdrawal of facilities, such as Council 

email/website/internet access;  
g) Exclusion from the Council offices or other premises 

with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for 
attending Council, Committees or Sub-Committees 
and/or nominating a single point of contact; and/or  

h) Requesting the Member to undertake actions deemed 
appropriate e.g. training, issue of an apology.  

 

4. To set-up when necessary an interview panel comprising of 

the lead members of each party to shortlist and interview 

candidates for the role of Independent Person.  
 

 To recommend successful candidates to the County 

Council to be chosen by a majority of Councillors. 
 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date:  r 11th October 2019 Agenda No:

Title of Report:
Proposed Independent Member Recruitment Pack. 

Context The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, CIPFA, 
have produced revised guidance on the function and operation of audit 
committees; “Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police, 2018 
edition”.  The guidance represents CIPFA’s view of best practice for 
Audit Committees in local authorities throughout the UK and replaces 
the Position Statement of Audit Committees in Local Government 
issued in 2013.

In the guidance, CIPFA provide a suggested self-assessment against 
recommended practice. By reviewing the Committee’s effectiveness 
against a good practice self-assessment on an annual basis, the 
Committee can demonstrate a high degree of performance and 
evidence that the Committee is soundly based with a knowledgeable 
membership that is not impaired in any way. 

A workshop was held on 17th May 2019 to enable members of the 
Committee to undertake a self assessment against the good practice 
principles. 

The Committee approved the action plan resulting from the 
effectiveness review, including the appointment of an independent 
member, at its meeting on 26th July 2019. 

Purpose of Report: This report provides the Committee with the proposed Independent 
Member recruitment pack. 

Recommendations: 1. That the proposed recruitment pack be recommended to the 
Constitution Committee on 14th October 2019 for approval; and

2. The interview panel comprises the Chair and Vice Chair of the 
Audit and Governance Committee, the Head of Democratic 
Services and the Head of Audit Risk Assurance.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA), 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services and Area Finance 
Officers Team. 
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Director of Finance
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver effective governance will impact on the ability of the 
Council to achieve its vision, outcomes and priorities.

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

Recruitment Pack 
Independent 

Member of the Audit 
and Governance 

Committee 

Page 23



 

2 
 

Would you like to do something worthwhile for Gloucestershire? 
 

Do you feel you have the time and the skills to make a positive contribution to the 
County Council’s Audit and Governance Committee? 

 

Do you think you could bring an independent perspective to analyse the Council’s 

arrangements for;- 

 managing risk; 

 

 maintaining an effective control environment; and  

 

 reporting on financial and other performance matters?    

 
We are looking to appoint an independent member to the Audit and Governance 
Committee, ideally someone with financial/auditing experience, or practical 
experience of managing risk. 
 

If this opportunity interests you, but you would like to discuss it further without 
committing yourself, please contact either Simon Harper: Head of Democratic 
Services  01452 324202 or  Simon.Harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk or Theresa 
Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance  01452 328883 or  
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 
 

Alternatively, you can request an information pack and application form by emailing 
ara@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Closing date for applications is: xxxx 

 
Interviews to be held on:- week commencing xxxx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24

mailto:Simon.Harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:ara@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

3 
 

What are Gloucestershire County Council’s Challenges and Opportunities? 

Demographic change 
 

 Gloucestershire’s population is ageing more quickly than the UK average. The 
increasing number of retired people in the county will bring experience, 
resources and time to their communities, but as they grow older and more frail 
will also need more support from health, social care and safeguarding services. 
We are also seeing increasing numbers of people living with disabilities and 
other long-term conditions in all age groups. 

 

 At the same time, our 18-64 population is expected to remain static. Young 
people tend to leave the county in their late teens and early twenties - the net 
loss can be as many as 400 19-25 year olds per year. While the concept of 
‘working age’ is shifting, we do need to respond to this challenge to make sure 
we have the skills we need to keep the county competitive and support economic 
growth. 

 

 We can also expect to see a trend towards more people living as single person 
households. This will make it less easy for people to rely on immediate family for 
help and support in the future, and make it more important that they are part of 
resilient communities that look out for one another. 

 

Inequalities and deprivation 
 

 While living standards are high overall, there are areas of the county where 
residents’ outcomes fall well below national averages and where, as a result, 
local people are more likely to depend on the services we provide. 21,000 
people (3.4% of the county’s population) live in areas amongst the most deprived 
10% in England. 

 

Rural isolation 
 

 As well as being one of our best assets, the rural nature of the county makes it 
difficult for some people to access the services they need. This is a particular 
challenge for the three out of every twenty Gloucestershire households that have 
no access to a car or van. 

 

Financial reforms 
 

 The basis on which councils are funded has changed over recent years. We 
have seen significant reductions in the level of funding we receive from Central 
Government. Whilst we do not yet know the outcome of the Fair Funding Review 
for Local Government or the next Comprehensive Spending Review, we expect 
to see further significant changes, including the phasing out of the Revenue 
Support Grant and the introduction of a funding model based on business rates 
retention. This would mean that future funding would be more closely linked to 
growth in the local economy than has previously been the case. We are also 
likely to see more of a ‘whole system’ approach to funding, such as through the 
current pooling pilot with district councils and the roll out of ‘Integrated Care 
Systems’ with the NHS. 

Page 25



 

4 
 

 

Our economic potential as a growing county 

 

 The growth that is planned for Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury is a 
game-changer. It allows us to think imaginatively about the role we want 
Gloucestershire to play in the sub-region, and the infrastructure we need to 
put in place to make that happen. It has the potential to free us from some of 
the constraints that would otherwise hamper economic growth, and to enable 
change on a significant scale. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

5 
 

 

Role, Purpose and Description 

Background Information 

The aim of the independent member is to bring a fresh and objective viewpoint to the 
work of the Audit and Governance Committee and support them to carry out their 
work. 

 

The Audit and Governance Committee comprises eleven Councillors who are not 
part of the ruling administration. 
 

The role of the Audit and Governance Committee has evolved and they are central to 
the governance, internal control, compliance and risk aspects of the operation of the 
Council.  Having an independent voice with the appropriate background knowledge 
and skills is advocated by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) in their Audit Committee Guidance. 
 

The work of the Audit and Governance Committee includes:- 
 

 Annual Governance Statement 
 

 Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report 
 

 Annual Statement of Accounts 
 

Full details of the Committee’s responsibilities are in the Audit and Governance 
Committee Terms of Reference at Appendix 1. These form part of Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Constitution. 
 

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee receive training relevant to their 
role and are expected to keep up to date. 

 

The independent member will be appointed through a process of public 
advertisement, application, interview and appointment. 

 

The Council has a commitment to equal opportunities and welcomes applicants from 
all sections of the community. Also we operate a no smoking policy.  
 

An annual allowance plus reasonable travel expenses is payable, currently £500 per 
year will be payable. It is for a fixed term of 4 years. 

 

The independent member will attend and participate in meetings of the County 
Council's Audit and Governance Committee.  

 

The Audit and Governance Committee meets four times per year and on an 
'exception' basis as required. 

 

Page 27

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s53339/Annual%20Governance%20Statement%2018-19%20Signed%20PDF.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9142/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2026-Jun-2019%2010.00%20County%20Council.pdf?T=10
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9052/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2026-Jul-2019%2010.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=10


 

6 
 

The independent member, through their participation in the Audit and Governance 
Committee, will assist the County Council to discharge their powers and functions as 
set out in the Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference. 

 

 To apply strategic thinking and materiality to reports presented and be able to 
review at an appropriate level. 

 

 To ask questions that draw out relevant facts and explanations.  

 

 To provide challenge.  

 

 To seek understanding and enable solutions.  

 

 To evaluate information on the basis of evidence presented without political 
bias. 

 

 To weigh up differing views and be able to come to an evidence based 
conclusion. 

 

 To ask difficult questions to get to the facts while maintaining positive 
relationships. 

 

Members or officers of Gloucestershire County Council or anyone who has or is a 
relative or close friend of a member or officer of the Council is not eligible.  

 

More detail can be found in Appendix 2 – Disqualifications for Appointment.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

7 
 

Person Specification 
 

Requirements Where identified* Essential Desirable 

A broad range of experience, preferably in 

public, private, voluntary and charitable sector 

employment or service including self-employed, 

employed and voluntary positions.  

A     

Understanding of the wider local government 

environment and accountability structures. A    

Strategic/financial management responsibilities. A     
Qualification in accountancy, finance, risk 

management, business management or internal 

audit. 
A    

Good understanding of corporate governance 

and risk management and the key elements of 

audit, best value and external scrutiny.  The 

ability to formulate and evaluate solutions to the 

issues identified. 

A     

Good understanding of the roles of internal and 

external audit. I    

Ability to understand complex issues and make 

objective, evidence-based decisions. I     

Strong interpersonal and communication skills I     
Willingness to participate in meetings and ask 

searching questions in order to challenge and 

hold to account Council Officers and the 

representatives of internal and external audit. 

I     

Attend and prepare for each meeting of the 

Audit and Governance Committee. I    

Ability/willingness to attend any relevant 

training or development activities associated 

with the role. 
I    

Independence of mind, objectivity and 

impartiality. I     

 
* A is application form      I is interview 
 

Page 29



Appendix 1  Terms of Reference 

8 
 

Page 30



Appendix 2  Disqualifications for Appointment 

9 
 

 

A. The Relevant Authorities (Standards Committee) Regulations 2001. 
  

(i) if a person has within the period of five years immediately preceding 
the date of the appointment been a member or officer of 
Gloucestershire County Council 

(ii) if a person is a serving member or officer of any other Relevant 
Authority; and 

  
(iii) if a person is a relative or close friend of a member or officer of 

Gloucestershire County Council 
  

“ relative”  -  means a spouse, partner, parent, parent-in-law, son, daughter, step-son, 
step-daughter, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, 
or the spouse or partner of any of the preceding persons. 

  
“ partner”   -  means a member of a couple who live together. 
  
“ relevant authority” -  includes a county council, a unitary council, a district council, a 

parish council. 
  
  

B. Summary of Sections 80 and 81 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
  
  
 (i) A person shall be disqualified from being appointed if he/she: - 
  
 (a)      holds any paid office or employment with the Authority; 
  

(b) is a person who has been adjudged bankrupt or made a composition or 
arrangement with his/her creditors; 

  
(c) has, within five years before the day of his/her appointment, been 

convicted of any offence and had passed upon him/her a sentence of 
imprisonment (whether suspended or not) for a period of not less than 
three months without the option of a fine; 

 

(d) has been convicted of a corrupt or illegal practice under Part III of the 
Representation of the People Act 1983; 

  
(e) is disqualified for membership for a specified period by Order of the 

Court because of his/her involvement in expenditure contrary to law; and 

  
(f) is disqualified from membership for five years following an Auditor’s 

certificate that a loss or deficiency has been caused by his/her wilful 
misconduct while a member of a local authority. 

  

  

Page 31



Appendix 2  Disqualifications for Appointment 

10 
 

ii) The disqualification attaching to a person by reason of having been 
adjudged bankrupt ceases: - 

  
(a) on his/her discharge from bankruptcy unless the bankruptcy order 

made against the person is previously annulled; and 

  
(b) if the bankruptcy order is so annulled, on the date of the annulment. 

  

(iii) The disqualification attaching to a person by reason of his/her having 
made a composition or arrangement with his/her creditors ceases: - 

  
(a) on the date on which payment is completed if he/she pays the debts in 

full; or 
  
(b)  in any other case, on the expiration of five years from the date on which 

the terms of the deed of composition or arrangement are fulfilled. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE

UPDATE TO THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION AND
RELATED SECTIONS OF THE CONSTITUTION

14 October 2019

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1. Following recent Director-level changes and appointments within the Council, the 
constitution has been reviewed and the proposed revisions are shown as tracked 
changes in Appendix 1.

2. The proposed changes are limited to the Scheme of Delegation and related 
sections which make reference to specific roles.

RECOMMENDATION

3. That the Committee considers the proposed changes to the Constitution and 
recommends them to full Council for approval and adoption.

Rob Ayliffe
Acting Monitoring Officer

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1:  Proposed Changes to Constitution 

PART 2 - ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION
Article 3 – The Public and the County Council

3.01.4 At certain times of the year, the public are also entitled to inspect the Council’s 
accounts and express their views on them to its external auditor (whose name 
and address may be obtained from the Director of Corporate Resources).  

Article 13 - Officers

13.01 Management structure

13.01.1 General

The Council will engage Officers to enable it to carry out its functions.

13.01.2 Statutory Officers
.

Position Legislation Name
Head of Paid Service Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 – Section 4
Peter Bungard

Chief Finance Officer Local Government Act 1972 – 
Section 151 Steve Mawson

Monitoring Officer Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 – Section 5

Robert Ayliffe

Director of Adult Social Care Local Authorities Social Services Act 
1970 – Section 6

Margaret Willcox

Director of Children’s Services Children’s Act 2004 – Section 18 Chris Spencer
Director of Public Health National Health Service Act 2006 – 

Section 73A
Sarah Scott

Statutory Scrutiny Officer Local Government Act 2000 – 
Section 9FB

Simon Harper

Data Protection Officer Data Protection Act 2018 – Article 
37

Jenny Grodzicka

PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS

Page 35



3.12 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

In accordance with the requirements of the Health & Social Care Act 2012 (“the Act”) the 
Council has established the Health and Wellbeing Board as a committee of the Council. 
Its duties/terms of reference are:

1. For the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the people of 
Gloucestershire to encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of 
any health or social care services in the county to work in an integrated manner

2. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social care 
services in the county and persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any 
health-related services in the county to work closely together.

3. Pursuant to section 116 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007 to prepare and publish a joint strategic needs assessment for the county

4. To prepare and publish a strategy for meeting the needs identified in the joint 
strategic needs assessment and ensuring a strategic planning framework is in place

5. To provide such advice assistance or other support as it thinks appropriate for the 
purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of such services

6. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any health-related 
services in the county to work closely with the Board

Membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprises:

 Chair of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire
 Additional Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire member
 Accountable Officer of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire 
 A District Council elected representative from Leadership Gloucestershire
 Four County Councillors, as appointed by the Leader of the County Council
 The Director of Adult Social Care, Gloucestershire County Council
 The Director of Children’s Services, Gloucestershire County Council
 Police and Crime Commissioner
 The Director of Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council
 A representative of the local Healthwatch 
 A representative of the NHS Commissioning Board Local Area Team
 A District Council Chief Officer and link for housing related business
 Chair of Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust
 Chair of 2gether NHS Foundation Trust
 Chair of Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
 Chief Constable of Gloucestershire
 Chief Fire Officer for Gloucestershire

Page 36



SECTION 5 - SCHEME OF DELEGATION

5.3 Before exercising delegated powers, the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 
Officers must satisfy themselves that the decision is:

5.3.1 Authorised by law and, if in doubt, will consult with the Head of Legal 
Services; 

5.3.2 Within budget (allowing for such variance as may be permitted under the 
Council’s Financial Regulations) and if in doubt will consult with the 
Director of Corporate Resources.

5.12 The Officer designated as Director of Adult Social Care in accordance with Section 
6(A1) of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 (as inserted by paragraph 2(2) of 
Schedule 2 to the Children Act 2004) shall be the Commissioning Director: Adults

Page 37



Particular Delegations to Officers

Decision 
Category 
Number

Function, duty or 
power to be delegated

Appropriate Officer Consultation 
under 
paragraph 
5.4

CE1 To take any decision that 
could be taken by the 
Council, the Cabinet, any 
committee or any Officer 
(provided such action is 
taken in accordance with 
the law, Rules on Access 
to Information about the 
County Council’s Business 
and the Cabinet Procedure 
Rules).

Chief Executive. Council 
function - 
Chair and 
Leader of the 
Council.

Cabinet 
function - 
Leader of the 
Council or 
Cabinet 
Member, as 
appropriate.

Committee 
function - 
Chair and 
Lead 
Members

CE2 To be the Proper Officer of 
the County Council in 
relation to all County 
Council functions, including 
the Proper Officer under 
Section 270(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

Chief Executive N/A

CE3 To fill casual vacancies on 
committees, in accordance 
with Sections 15-17 of the 
Local Government & 
Housing Act 1989.

Chief Executive Group leader 
of the political 
group entitled 
to appoint a 
Member to 
any committee 
by virtue of 
any vacancy 
that has arisen

Page 38



CE4 To be the Returning Officer 
for County Council 
elections and undertake 
the functions of the Council 
in relation to elections.

Chief Executive N/A

CE5 To permanently appoint, 
determine the terms of 
appointment and terminate 
the appointment of all staff 
(except those Officers 
within the responsibility of 
the Appointments 
Committee) under Section 
112 of the Local 
Government Act 1972; and 

To appoint on a temporary 
or acting up basis for up to 
one year, determine the 
terms of appointment and 
terminate the appointment 
of those Officers within 
paragraph 2 of the duties 
of the Appointments 
Committee.

To appoint on an interim 
basis and for a maximum 
period of up to six months 
to the positions of those 
officers within paragraph 2 
of the duties of the 
Appointments Committee.

Chief Executive Director of 
Corporate 
Resources

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member 
Group 
Leaders and 
relevant 
Scrutiny Chair.

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member 
Group 
Leaders and 
relevant 
Scrutiny Chair.

DSF 1 To be responsible for and 
do anything required for 
the proper administration 
of the financial affairs of 
the Council.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

Page 39



DSF 2 To make arrangements for 
the financing of the capital 
programme of the Council 
by borrowing, leasing or 
other arrangements.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

Leader of the 
Council or 
Cabinet 
Member, as 
appropriate.

DSF 3 The functions, duties or 
powers of the Pensions 
Committee.

 Director of Corporate 
Resources

Chair of the 
Pensions 
Committee for 
all decisions 
with financial 
implications 
over £250,000

DSF 4 To formulate and issue 
general guidelines to 
Officers on financial 
matters including 
insurance and the writing-
off of debts.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 5 To determine 
arrangements for treasury 
management in 
accordance with the 
Council’s policy statement 
and approved treasury 
management practices and 
where relevant CIPFA’s 
Standard of Professional 
Practice on Treasury 
Management.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 6 To make arrangements for 
the Internal Audit of the 
Council.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 7 To manage the County 
Fund and all subsidiary 
accounts and any reserve 
or other fund.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

Page 40



DSF 8 To operate the Local 
Government 
Superannuation 
Regulations, including the 
exercise of discretion 
under those Regulations.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member for all 
decisions with 
financial 
implications 
over £250,000

DSF 9 To implement national and 
local pay awards and 
increase payments under 
the Pension Increase Act.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 10 To make finance leasing 
arrangements and 
authorise and make any 
other financial transaction 
including the borrowing 
and lending of money.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member for all 
decisions with 
financial 
implications 
over £250,000

DSF 11 To authorise the writing-off 
of stock, other than 
through fair wear and tear.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 12 To effect adequate 
insurance cover for the 
Council.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 13 To exercise all other 
functions relating to the 
Financial Management of 
the Council.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 14 To acquire and dispose of 
any interest in land and 
manage the Council’s 
estate.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member for all 
decisions with 
financial 
implications 
over £250,000

DSF 15 To manage the provision of 
information technology 
services to the Council.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 16 To manage the function 
relating to Communications 
and Engagement

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

Page 41



DSF 17 To exercise all other 
functions relating to 
support services except for 
functions falling within 
decision categories HLDS 
1 to 3 and MO1 

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

DSF 18 To secure the proper 
management of the 
Council’s human resources 
except for functions falling 
within decision categories 
CE5 and HLDS 1 to 3

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

D:S&C 1 The functions of the Safety 
& Licensing Committee 
under paragraphs 2 and 3 
of its terms of reference.

Director of Finance N/A

D:S & C 2 To publish standards for 
the whole Council, which 
will secure the efficient 
processing of information.

Director of People N/A

D:S & C 3 To exercise all other 
functions relating to the 
following services: 
Planning, Performance & 
Change; Democratic 
Services; Information 
Management, Corporate 
Complaints, Archives; the 
Executive and Cabinet 
Offices; and the SHE 
Team; and Legal Services 
except for functions within 
decision categories HLDS 
1 to 5.

Director of Corporate 
Resources

N/A

Page 42



MO1 To make payments or 
award other benefits under 
Section 92 of the Local 
Government Act 2000 
(payments in respect of 
maladministration and 
related discretionary 
payments.

Monitoring Officer Chief 
Executive, 
Chief Financial 
Officer and/or 
Director 
responsible for 
the service in 
respect of 
which a 
payment or 
other benefit is 
awarded.

MO2 To amend the Constitution 
in any way whatsoever in 
order to secure compliance 
with the law and the 
convenient, efficient and 
effective discharge of any 
Council function.  Such 
amendment to be reported 
to the Constitution 
Committee and reported to 
and ratified by the full 
Council (in respect of any 
non-executive function) or 
the Cabinet (in respect of 
any executive function).

Monitoring Officer Chief 
Executive and 
any Director 
whose service 
is affected by 
any 
amendment to 
the 
Constitution.

MO 3 The functions of the 
Constitution Committee to 
advertise for, interview and 
appoint persons as 
members of an 
Independent Remuneration 
Panel.

Monitoring Officer Lead 
Members of 
the 
Constitution 
Committee.

Page 43



CFO 1 To manage the operations 
of the Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service.

Chief Fire Officer Most relevant 
Cabinet 
Member(s) or 
Chief 
Executive for 
all decisions 
with financial 
implications 
over £250,000

CD: C & I 1 The functions of the Safety 
and Licensing Committee 
except those within 
paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 7 of 
its terms of reference and 
decision categories HLDS1 
to 3.

Director of Economy, 
Environment and 
Infrastructure.

N/A

CD: C & I 2 To enforce the Trading 
Standards, Food, Animal 
Health and other legislation 
referred to in the Trading 
Standards Legislation 
Master List held by the 
Head of Legal Services  
and issue statutory notices 
in relation to that legislation

 Director of Economy, 
Environment and 
Infrastructure

N/A

Deputy Chief 
Fire Officer

Without prejudice to the 
powers of the Director of 
Economy, Environment 
and Infrastructure to sign 
warrants and authorise 
Officers to enforce the 
legislation referred to in the 
Trading Standards 
Legislation Master List held 
by the Head of Legal 
Services and to issue 
statutory notices in relation 
to that legislation

Deputy Chief Fire Officer N/A

Page 44



CD: C & I 3 To exercise the functions 
of the Commons and 
Rights of Way Committee 
as Local Highway Authority  
Commons and Rights of 
Way Committee terms of 
reference 3 to 19.

Director of Economy, 
Environment and 
Infrastructure 

N/A

CD: C & I 4 To be the Proper Officer in 
relation to functions under 
the Highways Act 1980.

Director of Economy, 
Environment and 
Infrastructure

N/A

CD: C & I 5 To exercise the functions 
falling within Planning 
Committee terms of 
reference 1 to 14 and 16 to 
25, except decision 
categories HLDS1 to 3 of 
this Scheme of Delegation.

Director of Economy, 
Environment and 
Infrastructure. 
(Note:  Where the  Director 
is an Officer whose 
responsibilities include any 
aspect of the management 
of any land or building to 
which an application made 
by the Council relates, or is 
responsible for a function 
(other than as planning 
authority) materially 
affected by any planning 
matter, this power is 
delegated to the 
appropriate senior officer).

Head of Legal 
Services. 

CD: C & I 6 To exercise the functions 
of the Traffic Regulation 
Committee (terms of 
reference 1 to 12), except 
those falling within decision 
categories HLDS1 to 3 of 
this Scheme of Delegation.

Director of Economy, 
Environment and 
Infrastructure.

Head of Legal 
Services. 

Page 45



CD: C & I 7 To exercise all other 
functions relating to the 
areas of responsibility of 
the following services: 
Development, Planning, 
Transport & Community 
Infrastructure, Road 
Safety, Trading Standards, 
Civil Protection, 
Registration & Coroners, 
Libraries and Waste 
Management except 
decision categories CFO 1, 
HLDS1 to 3 (although, in 
cases when only an Officer 
other than the Head of 
Legal Services may 
institute proceedings, the 
Director of Economy, 
Environment and 
Infrastructure may institute 
a prosecution once it has 
been authorised under 
HLDS2).

Director of Economy, 
Environment and 
Infrastructure

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member for all 
decisions with 
financial 
implications 
over £250,000

CD: A 1 The functions of the Safety 
and Licensing Committee 
under paragraph 7 of its 
terms of reference.

Director of Adult Social 
Care

N/A

CD: A 2 To exercise all other 
functions relating to the 
areas of responsibility of 
Adult Social Care except 
decision category HLDS1 
to 3.

Director of Adult Social 
Care

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member for all 
decisions with 
financial 
implications 
over £250,000

DCS1 The functions of the Safety 
and Licensing Committee 
under paragraph 4 of its 
terms of reference.

Director of Children’s 
Services

Director of Children’s 
Services

N/A

Page 46



DCS2 To exercise all other 
functions relating to the 
areas of responsibility of 
Children’s Services, 
Education and Learning 
except decision category 
HLDS1 to 3 and in relation 
to the commissioning of 
Children’s Services.

Most relevant 
Cabinet 
Member(s) for 
all decisions 
with financial 
implications 
over £250,000

HLDS1 To authorise the institution, 
defence withdrawal or 
settlement of any claims or 
legal proceedings, civil or 
criminal, the issue of 
cautions and to authorise 
the enforcement of any 
order made in those 
proceedings.

Head of Legal Services Director of any 
service area 
affected by 
such a 
decision.

HLDS2 To authorise Officers of the 
County Council to 
prosecute or defend or 
appear in any legal 
proceedings (NB: The 
Head of Legal Services will 
authorise every decision to 
prosecute or defend such 
proceedings, including 
those which by law may 
only be instituted by 
another Officer).

Head of Legal Services Director of any 
service area 
affected by 
such a 
decision.

HLDS3 To authorise the 
withdrawal or settlement of 
any dispute between the 
Council and any third 
party, including those that 
have been referred to any 
statutory or non-statutory 
Tribunal or arbitrator (this 
includes authorising ex 
gratia payments not 
otherwise delegated).

Head of Legal Services Director of any
 service area 
affected by 
such a 
decision.

Page 47



HLDS4 To be the adjudicator for 
disputes under the Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme.

Head of Legal Services N/A

HLDS5 The functions of the 
Commons and Rights of 
Way Committee under 
paragraphs 1, 2 and 19 or 
its terms of reference.

Head of Legal Services Lead 
members

DPH1 To exercise the functions 
conferred on the Director 
of Public Health by section 
73A of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 for the 
improvement of the health 
of the people of 
Gloucestershire

Director of Public Health

DPH2 To exercise the 
commissioning function 
relating to the areas of 
responsibility of Children’s 
Services, Education and 
Learning

Director of Public Health Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member for 
decisions with 
financial 
implications in 
excess of 
£250,000

GEN1 To enter into any contract 
for works and the supply of 
goods and services.

Chief Executive and 
Directors or Head of 
Service or equivalent in 
relation to their service 
areas.

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member for 
decisions with 
financial 
implications in 
excess of 
£250,000

GEN2 To take any decision under 
the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 
2000.

Directors or Head of 
Service or equivalent in 
relation to their service 
areas.

N/A

Page 48



GEN3 To do anything that is 
required for the effective 
management of staff and 
other resources within 
each Service of the 
Council.

Directors or Head of 
Service or equivalent in 
relation to their service 
areas.

N/A

 

Page 49



 
PART 4 – RULES OF PROCEDURE
CABINET PROCEDURE RULES

5.5 In addition to scheduled meetings, a meeting of the Cabinet may be called by the 
Leader of the Council, a Cabinet Member, the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer 
or the Director of Corporate Resources.

FINANCIAL REGULATION C: RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES

C.2 The Chief Financial Officer (Director of Corporate Resources) is responsible for the 
development, monitoring and review of the Council’s risk management policy statement 
and strategy, which is approved by Cabinet and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk 
management.  The Chief Financial Officer is also the Council’s principal risk 
management adviser and co-ordinator.

CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS
      

7. Grants & External Funding

7.1 Authorised Officers shall have regard to guidance on grant making which may be issued 
from time to time by the Director of Corporate Resources. 

Page 50



PART 5- CODES AND PROTOCOLS
Code of Conduct for Employees

Investigation

31. Allegations and concerns relating to fraud or corruption will normally be investigated by 
the Head of Internal Audit and a report issued to the Chief Executive, the Monitoring 
Officer and the Director of Corporate Resources (s.151 Officer).

32. The Director of Corporate Resources in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, will then 
decide whether there are sufficient grounds for the matter to be reported to the Police. 
The Chief Executive is also to be informed of any (potential) referrals. The Council will 
normally wish the Police to be made aware of, and investigate independently, offences 
where financial impropriety appears to have been discovered.

Appendix 1 – Whistleblowing Policy

Step three
If these channels have been followed and you still have concerns, or if you feel that the matter is 
so serious that you cannot discuss it with any of the above, please contact:

Robert Ayliffe
Head of Planning, Performance and Change and Monitoring Officer
Gloucestershire County Council
Shire Hall
Gloucester GL1 2TZ
Telephone 01452 328506
Email: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk

The Monitoring Officer will refer all concerns in relation to possible financial impropriety or 
irregularity to Theresa Mortimer, the Chief Internal Audit (CIA) and/or Steve Mawson, Director of 
Corporate Resources

You may wish to use our 24 hour “whistleblowing” answerphone service on 01452 427052 
which is managed by Internal Audit or the on-line form (link) which goes direct to the Monitoring 
Officer.

Monitoring and Oversight

Page 51

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-feedback/whistleblowing/


The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for this policy and will review it annually with the 
Audit and Governance Committee. They will ensure that a record of concerns raised and the 
outcomes recorded is maintained in a form that does not breach confidentiality monitor the daily 
operation of the policy and if you have any comments or questions, please do not hesitate to let 
one of their team know.

Members Allowances Scheme 2019/20

(4b) INCOME TAX

At the end of the tax year, the Director of Corporate Resources has to notify the 
Inspector of Taxes of the amounts paid during the tax year and a form P60 will be 
issued to each Member showing details of the information given to the Inspector.  
When a Member ceases to hold office, a form P45 is issued to the Member, a copy of 
which is sent to the Inspector.

As part of the Self Assessment arrangements for income tax the Inland Revenue do 
expect individuals to keep records of pay/allowances received and receipts for 
expenses, which should be obtained wherever possible. 

(4c) NATIONAL INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS
5. At the end of the tax year the Director of Corporate Resources has to notify HM 
Revenue & Customs of the amounts of National Insurance deducted during the year. 
This will be reported along with the income tax deducted (see 4b above). It will also be 
included on form P60, with the deductions of tax that will be issued to each Member.

5. RENUNCIATION AND WITHHOLDING ALLOWANCES

5.1 A Member who is a County Councillor may by notice in writing to the Director of 
Corporate Resources elect to forego all or any part of their entitlement to a basic or 
special responsibility allowance.

The election may be for an amount, which the Member can then require to be paid to a 
charity (or charities) under the "give as you earn" scheme. There is now no maximum 
limit which can be paid to charity.

Page 52



Page 53

Agenda Item 9



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 MOTION 837 - PARENTAL LEAVE FOR COUNCILLORS
	6 Audit and Governance Committee’s Terms of Reference
	7 Audit & Governance Committee Proposed Independent Member Recruitment Pack
	GCC recruitment pack for independent member Draft to A  G Cttee

	8 Scheme of Delegation
	Appendix 1 - Proposed Changes to Constitution

	9 Monitoring Officer Changes to the Constitution

